
City of Walhalla  
Board of Zoning Appeals

Teara Barnwell, Chair Frank Guldner, Vice-Chair 
Kenny Johns        Dustin Raines Amy Welch 

City of Walhalla • Community Development Department 
206 N Church St. • P.O. Box 1099 • Walhalla, SC 29691 • (864) 638-4343 • Fax (864) 638-4357 • www.CityofWalhalla.com 

Thursday, September 18, 2023 
Regularly Scheduled Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting 

5:30 PM 
206 North Church Street  

Walhalla, South Carolina 29691 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Approval of Minutes – July 24, 2023

4. Public Hearings

a. Variance: Request for variance from minimum width at setback line on N Church Street
(TMS 500-07-03-041)

5. Old Business

6. Public Comments, non-agenda items

7. Other Business

8. Adjournment



City of Walhalla Board of Zoning Appeals  
Thursday, July 24, 2023 • 5:30 PM 

Council Chambers • City Hall 
Walhalla, South Carolina 

Minutes 
 

In accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-10 et seq., South Carolina Code, 
1976, the media was duly notified of the date, time, and place of the meeting. 

 
Members Present: Teara Barnwell, Josh Holliday and Kenny Johns 

Members Absent: Frank Guldner 

Staff Present: Celia Myers 

Call to Order: Chairwoman Barnwell called the meeting to order at 5:30PM, with a quorum present to 
conduct the meeting and welcomed all present to the meeting.  

Approval of Agenda: Mr. Johns moved to approve the agenda with Mr. Holliday seconding. The 
motion to approve the agenda was unanimous. 

Approval of Minutes: Mr. Holliday moved to approve the minutes of the April 6, 2023 meeting; and 
Mr. Johns seconded. The vote was 3-0. 

Public Hearing:  

Special Exception: Request to place a manufactured home on Chris Court (TMS 500-14-13-003) 

Mrs. Celia Myers presented the request by Ms. Jane Finkenstadt to place a manufactured home at 
Chris Court, near Coffee Road. Manufactured homes are allowed in General Residential (GR) zoning, 
with a special exception approval by the Board of Zoning Appeals. Additional conditions are placed 
on the approval, including porch size, masonry foundation, multiple sections, etc. Chairwoman 
Barnwell opened the public hearing. Ms. Fikenstadt was presented and shared that manufactured 
homes had been present on the site for years, but had been removed some time ago. She was 
requesting approval in order to allow a tenant to place a home on the property. Hearing no other 
comments, the public hearing was closed. Mr. Holliday moved to approve the special exception with 
the conditions stated in the Walhalla Municipal Code; Mr. Johns seconded.  The vote was 2-1, with 
Mrs. Barnwell opposing. 

Special Exception: Request to place a manufactured home on West Ervin Street (TMS 500-22-01-002) 

Mrs. Myers presented the request by Mr. Benito Zapata to place a manufactured home on West Ervin 
Street. She added that a home had been located on this parcel, but it had been recently demolished 
due to its dilapidated state. Manufactured homes are allowed in General Residential (GR) zoning, with 
a special exception approval by the Board of Zoning Appeals. Additional conditions are placed on the 
approval, including porch size, masonry foundation, multiple sections, etc. Chairwoman Barnwell 
opened the public hearing. Hearing no comments, the public hearing was closed. Mr. Johns moved to 
approve the special exception with the conditions stated in the Walhalla Municipal Code; Mr. Holliday 
seconded.  The vote was 2-1, with Mrs. Barnwell opposing. 

  



Variance: Request for variance from minimum setbacks on West Main Street (TMS 500-14-02-005) 

Mrs. Myers presented the request by Mr. Eugene Smith to reduce the minimum side setback in order 
to allow for the placement of a carport. The placement of the home and driveway, prior to the current 
zoning code, presented the hardship. Chairwoman Barnwell opened the public hearing. Hearing no 
comments, the public hearing was closed. Mr. Holliday moved to approve the request for a reduction 
of side setback, in order to allow a carport; Mr. Johns seconded. The motion to approve the variance 
request was unanimous.  

Variance: Request for variance from minimum width at setback line on North Church Street (TMS 500-
07-03-041) 

Mrs. Myers presented the request by Ms. Glory Hotko on behalf of Mr. Gerardo Carillo. The applicant 
wishes to subdivide the +/-1.8 acre parcel into three lots. Due to the triangular shape of the parcel, the 
applicant states a hardship in meeting the minimum width at setback line and requests the allowance 
of a shared driveway, as recommended by SCDOT. Ms. Hotko was present. Before Chairwoman 
Barnwell could open the public hearing, Mr. Johns stated that he lived next door to this parcel and felt 
he should recuse himself due to a conflict of interest. With Mr. Johns recusal, there was no longer a 
quorum to consider this item. Therefore Mr. Holliday moved to table the item until the next meeting 
when more members may be presented. Mrs. Barnwell seconded; and the motion was approved 
unanimously.  

Old Business 

Tabled Appeal: Status of Family Fence LLC’s use of 135 Kelly Drive as a permitted non-conforming use.  

Chairwoman Barnwell asked for a motion to remove the item from the table. Mr. Holliday moved to do 
so; Mr. Johns seconded. The motion to remove the item from the table was unanimous. The Board was 
presented with videos supplied by the Stoudemires and Reitanos. The Board questioned staff on 
whether they found any evidence on the videos supplied by the Reitanos of manufacturing. None was 
found. The members of the Board added that they saw no evidence on the video supplied by the 
applicant. Mr. Johns proposed that no machines be run before 8 am or after 5 pm. Mrs. Cindy Reitano 
stated that they usually did not; however, it was possible that a truck arrived earlier or later with 
supplies to be unloaded. She added that if the Board would not allow the use of 135 Kelly Drive, she 
could move the operation entirely to 328 North Pine, as it was a permitted non-conforming use and 
not under question. Mr. Holliday moved to uphold previous zoning administrator’s Daniel Fletcher’s 
decision and allow the continue use of 135 Kelly Drive for Family Fence’s storage needs. Mr. Johns 
seconded. The motion was approved 3-0. 

Public Comments, non-agenda items: None were presented. 

Other Business: Chairwoman Barnwell called for any other business. None was presented. 

Hearing no further business, Chairwoman Barnwell adjourned the meeting at 5:57 pm.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

 

Celia Boyd Myers, AICP  
Community Development Director 







 

 

 

Photographs 

Applicant: Glory Hotko    

Location: North Church Street (Across from Holloway Street) 



§ 330-1.14. R-25 Single-Family Residential District.

A. Intent of district. It is the intent of this section that the R-25 Zoning District be developed and
reserved for low-density single-family residential purposes. No use or activity shall be permitted that
would disturb or impair the natural character of the district. Areas impaired during construction shall
be corrected, so as not to disturb the character of the district. The regulations which apply within this
district are designed to encourage the formation and continuation of a stable, healthy environment
with single-family dwelling units situated on lots of 25,000 square feet or more, and to discourage
any encroachment by commercial, industrial or other use capable of adversely affecting the
residential character of the district.

B. Permitted uses. The following buildings and uses shall be permitted in any R-25 Zoning District:

(1) Single-family dwellings, detached (other than mobile homes);

(2) Cultivation of land and general gardening, horticulture or growing agricultural crops, and plant
nursery and sales;

(3) Accessory buildings and structures in conjunction with permitted uses as prescribed in
§ 330-1.46.

C. Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any R-25 Zoning District, subject to the
conditions of this Part 1:

(1) Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of § 330-1.45.

(2) Lots containing one acre or more which is suitable for agriculture purposes, and which are in
the R-25 Zoning District, may have horses and cattle at one animal per acre of pasturage, unless
the County Extension Services Officer certifies that the land uses will support additional
animals, grandfathered for one year and ceases to exist. This subsection is not to exclude
Subsection B(3) or uses therein.

(3) A single parcel or lot which is two acres or greater may have one horse or head of cattle for
each two acres unless the County Extension Service Officer certifies that the land uses will
support additional animals. Such certificate shall be presented to the Zoning Administrator. Any
such conditional use is subject to an annual review. This subsection is not to exclude Subsection
B(3) or uses therein.

(4) Home occupations pursuant to § 330-1.43.

(5) Bed-and-breakfast facilities shall be allowed but must meet the following requirements:

(a) The building shall be occupied by an owner or tenant at any time that a room is leased.

(b) One sign shall be allowed on the property, no larger than six feet tall and eight feet long.

(c) A maximum of six bedrooms shall be allowed, with no more than two adults in each room.

(d) All occupants shall sleep in bedrooms only.

(e) Parking shall conform to Article VI of this Part 1.

(f) Rooms shall be rented to tenants for a maximum of 14 consecutive days.

(g) Cooking shall be allowed in the kitchen area only, with the exception of outdoor grills.

City of Walhalla, SC

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2023-07-21

:1



D. Special exception uses. Certain uses within an R-25 Zoning District are to be special exception uses
pursuant to the requirements and procedures of § 330-1.47 and all subsections and all conditions
stipulated herein:

(1) Antennas, towers, masts and similar structures measuring over 17 feet above the top of the
highest peak of the roofline.

E. Other requirements. Uses permitted or conditionally permitted in R-25 Zoning Districts shall be
required to conform to the specific dimensional requirements unless otherwise specified. All other
relevant portions of this Part 1 shall apply.

(1) Minimum lot requirements: 25,000 square feet.

(2) Minimum width in feet: 100 feet measured at the front setback line; but in no case is the lot to
be less than 25 feet at the right-of-way line.

(3) Minimum setback requirements:

(a) Front: 30 feet.

(b) Side: 10 feet.

(c) Rear: 15 feet.

(4) Maximum height of building: 2.5 stories or 35 feet. [Amended at time of adoption of Code
(see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]

(5) Maximum structure surface coverage of lot: 35%.

City of Walhalla, SC

§ 330-1.14 § 330-1.14

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2023-07-21

:2

Owner
Highlight



§ 330-2.27. Lots.

A. The lot arrangement and design shall be such that all lots will provide satisfactory and desirable
building sites, properly related to topography and the character of surrounding development.

B. Where easements for public utilities and sewers are contemplated, the lot lines shall be located in
such manner as to facilitate the construction and maintenance of such improvements.

C. Lot areas shall not be less than minimum zoning requirements in the area in which the property is
located.

D. All side lines of lots shall be at right angles or radial to street lines, except where a variation will
provide a better street and lot layout.

E. Double-frontage lots shall be avoided wherever possible.

F. Corner lots for residential use shall have additional width sufficient to provide equal setback from
front and side streets.

G. Every lot shall abut on a street. In no case shall an alley serve as the only access to a lot.

H. The depth of a lot shall not be less than 100 feet, and excessive depth in relation to width shall be
avoided.

City of Walhalla, SC

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2023-07-21

:1

Owner
Highlight












	GR General Residential District.pdf
	§ 330-1.17 GR General Residential District.

	GR General Residential District.pdf
	§ 330-1.17 GR General Residential District.

	OC Office Commercial District.pdf
	§ 330-1.19 OC Office Commercial District.

	R-25 Single-Family Residential District.pdf
	§ 330-1.14 R-25 Single-Family Residential District.

	Lots.pdf
	§ 330-2.27 Lots.




